
Service Director – Legal, Governance and
Commissioning
Julie Muscroft

The Democracy Service

Civic Centre 3

High Street

Huddersfield

HD1 2TG

Tel: 01484 221000 

Please ask for: Yolande Myers

Email: yolande.myers@kiklees.gov.uk

Friday 1 June 2018

Notice of Meeting
Dear Member

Children's Scrutiny Panel

The Children's Scrutiny Panel will meet in the Council Chamber - Town Hall, 
Huddersfield at 10.00 am on Monday 11 June 2018.

This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website.

The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details.

Julie Muscroft
Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning

Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



The Children's Scrutiny Panel members are:-

Member
Councillor Cahal Burke (Chair)
Councillor Donna Bellamy
Councillor Lisa Holmes
Councillor Darren O'Donovan
Councillor Sheikh Ullah
Dale O'Neill (Co-Optee)
Fatima Khan-Shah (Co-Optee)



Agenda
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached

Pages

1:  Membership of the Committee

This is where Councillors who are attending as substitutes will say 
for whom they are attending.

2:  Minutes of the Previous Meeting

To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 16 
April 2018.

1 - 4

3:  Interests

The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda in which they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion of the items 
or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other interests.

5 - 6

4:  Admission of the Public

Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private.

5:  Draft Sufficiency Strategy

Members of the Committee will consider and comment on the 
content of the report and the draft Children’s Interim Sufficiency 
Strategy and Action Plan.
 
Officer: Stephen Bonnell

7 - 36



6:  Children's Scrutiny Panel work programme

The members of the committee will consider proposed items for the 
work programme.

Officer: Yolande Myers

37 - 38

7:  Future Meeting Dates

Members of the panel will consider the future meeting dates.



1

Contact Officer: Steve Copley 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL

CHILDREN'S SCRUTINY PANEL

Monday 16th April 2018

Present: Councillor Cahal Burke (Chair)
Councillor Donna Bellamy
Councillor Fazila Loonat
Councillor Paul Kane
Councillor Amanda Pinnock

Co-optees Dale O’Neill 

In attendance: Councillor Julie Stewart-Turner
Councillor Viv Kendrick, Cabinet Member for Children
Elaine McShane, Service Director - Family Support and 
Child Protection
Steve Comb, Interim Head of Corporate Parenting
Jo-Anne Sanders, Service Director - Early Help & 
Learning

1 Membership of the Committee
No apologies for absence were submitted or recorded.

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
The minutes of the Panel meeting held on 5 March 2018, were presented and 
approved as a correct record. 

3 Interests
Cllr Fazila Loonat declared an interest in item 8 below.

4 Admission of the Public
The meeting was held in public session.

5 Ofsted letter to Director of Children's Services
Elaine McShane, Service Director for Family Support and Child Protection, 
introduced a copy of a letter from Ofsted (dated 9 April) which had been issued to 
Steve Walker, Interim Director of Children’s Services, which summarised the 
findings from a monitoring visit to Kirklees Council and its children’s services on 13 
and 14 March 2018. 

It was noted that the visit in March 2018 was the fourth monitoring visit since the 
local authority was judged, in October 2016, to be inadequate for services for 
children in need of help and protection and looked after children.

The letter described the changes and improvements made to-date, plus those areas 
and issues where further changes and improvements were still required.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Children's Scrutiny Panel -  16 April 2018

2

Cllr Viv Kendrick and Elaine McShane went on to answer questions from members 
of the panel which, in summary, focused on:-

- The progress made in introducing the changes and improvements to-date
- The issues which still need to be addressed from Spring 2018 onwards
- The desire for more pace and improvements but with balance and thought
- The need to encourage change and embed good practice more consistently
- The role and work of the Corporate Parenting Board 
- The improved quality of the information being shared with councillors
- The improvements to the management of caseloads, staffing and teams  
- The working relationships between officers in Kirklees and Leeds 

RESOLVED: Members of the Panel agreed that:-

1) Elaine McShane be thanked for her attendance at today’s meeting.

2) The receipt and content of the letter from Ofsted (9 April 2018) regarding the 
outcome of the monitoring visit on 13 and 14 March 2018, be noted.

3) News of subsequent letters and monitoring visits to be shared with members 
of the Panel in the 2018/19 municipal year. 

6 Statement of Purpose for Registered Children's Homes
Steve Comb, Interim Head of Corporate Parenting, introduced a report which 
described the “Statements of purpose” for the three mainstream children’s homes 
run by Kirklees Council, namely:

- Copthorne Gardens – 4 bed home (Bradley, Huddersfield)
- Healds Road - 6 bed home (Staincliffe, Dewsbury)
- Woodlands – 6 bed home (Lindley, Huddersfield)

The report explained that the running of children’s residential homes is regulated by 
Ofsted and involves a full inspection once per year. Then, depending upon the 
outcome of that inspection and the issues raised, a home could be subject to more 
frequent inspections. The Children’s Home Regulations 2015 provide the regulatory 
framework which Ofsted use.

Cllr Viv Kendrick, Steve Comb and Elaine McShane went on to answer questions 
from members of the panel which, in summary, focused on:

- The Panel and the issues highlighted by their recent visit to Woodlands 
- The process for dealing with requests for improvements and repairs in homes
- Plans for the homes in 2018 and the refresh of their “Statements of purpose”
- Occupancy levels and the need to try to develop smaller residential homes
- The number of children in the care of the local authority at present
- Where they are placed – foster care, local homes or external placements 
- Plans for a new “Local sufficiency strategy” 
- The work of a new Specialist Accommodation Project Board
- Opportunities to bring some external placements back to Kirklees
- Working relationships with the 23 private children’s homes in Kirklees

Page 2



Children's Scrutiny Panel -  16 April 2018

3

- The work of the “Leaving Care Team” who help young people to live 
independently

RESOLVED - Members of the Panel agreed that:

1) Steve Comb be thanked for his attendance at today’s meeting.

2) The report be received

3) Officers be asked to present a further report – or an annual report - on the 
development of the “Statements of purpose” for each of the three children’s 
homes to the Children’s Scrutiny Panel in 2018/19.

4) Officers to also provide more information in the next report on (i) the 
development of a local sufficiency strategy in Kirklees, and (ii) the help and 
support offered to young people after leaving care. 

7 Children's Scrutiny Panel work programme
The Panel considered a report which described the progress made with those items 
proposed for inclusion within the work programme for 2017/18.

Cllr Cahal Burke also used this opportunity to offer his thanks to members of the 
Panel, plus the Cabinet Members and officers invited to the meetings to-date, for 
their contributions, help and support with the work programme in 2017/18. 

RESOLVED - Members of the Panel went on to agree that the progress report on 
the work programme in 2017/18 be noted.

8 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
Jo-Anne Sanders, Acting Service Director for Learning and Early Support, 
introduced a report which explained that, in the period from 2016-2021, all local 
authority areas will be subject to an inspection under Section 20 of the Children Act 
2004, which will be carried out by Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission, of the 
local area and its effectiveness in identifying and meeting the needs of children and 
young people who have special educational needs and/or disabilities.

The report explained that the inspection in Kirklees (date tbc) will focus on:

- An evaluation of how effectively the local area identifies disabled children and 
young people and those who have special educational needs, and 

- An evaluation of how effectively the local area meets the needs and improves 
the outcomes of disabled children and young people and those who have 
special educational needs

Three appendices to the report provided more information on:

- The official framework (April 2016) which Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission will use for conducting the inspection

Page 3



Children's Scrutiny Panel -  16 April 2018

4

- An Ofsted report (October 2017) titled “Local Area SEND inspections – One 
year on” which provides a further reference point to evaluate the approach 
which Kirklees should take in order to prepare for our inspection (date tbc)

- The preparatory work that is taking place in Kirklees in readiness for the 
inspection which is being overseen by a SEND Strategy Group consisting of 
representatives from Education, Health, Children’s Services, Adult Social 
Care, parents and carers and the third sector. The SEND Strategy Group has 
considered areas where progress has been made and areas of work which 
still need development. 

The report went on to explain that a continued focus on preparation for this 
inspection is required from colleagues in education, health and social care, along 
with a review of the SEND Assessment and Commissioning Team in order to be 
able to meet the council’s statutory duties in relation to SEND.

Jo-Anne Sanders went on to answer questions from members about the preparatory 
work to-date and the issues which still need attention prior the inspection of services 
in Kirklees, explaining that further updates will be provided to members of the 
Scrutiny Panel in due course. 
 
RESOLVED - Members of the Panel agreed that:

1) Jo-Anne Sanders be thanked for her attendance at today’s meeting.

2) Today’s progress report be received

3) Officers be asked to present further progress reports – including news of the 
work on the Kirklees self-evaluation framework – to the informal sessions of 
the Children’s Scrutiny Panel in 2018/19.

Page 4



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
C

hi
ld

re
ns

 S
cr

ut
in

y 
P

an
el

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 6



1

Name of meeting: Children’s Scrutiny Panel
Date: 11th June 2018
Title of report: Draft Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan (2018-19)

Purpose of report

1. That members of Scrutiny Panel note the content of this report and the draft Children’s 
Interim Sufficiency Strategy and Action Plan (2018-19) (Appendix 1); and

2. To ask Scrutiny to comment on the draft Strategy and Action Plan to contribute towards its 
further development (Appendix 1).

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards? 

N/A (not a commissioning proposal)

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?) 

No

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny?

Yes

Date signed off by Service Director & name

Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services?

Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support?

Elaine McShane (30/5/18)

N/A 

N/A

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Viv Kendrick

Electoral wards affected: N/A 

Ward councillors consulted: N/A 

Public or private: Public

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


2

1. Summary 
As part of our Improvement Plan, we committed to producing a Sufficiency Strategy 
and Action Plan setting out how we will increase the availability of local placements to 
ensure that children and young people do not need to be placed at a distance from 
their communities. This draft Interim Strategy and Action Plan sets out our approach 
until the end of calendar year 2019. Its key outcomes are children feeling confident 
our decisions more clearly reflect their needs and views, more children and young 
people able to stay at home and leave care early, and more placements of the right 
kind for children and young people in need (especially family-setting placements).

By increasing placement stability, increasing the number of foster placements, and 
reserving specialist residential placements for those that need them the most, we 
believe we will see less of our children and young people placed outside of the District 
(when appropriate). In the next 18-months, we will fill our new Head of Service for 
Sufficiency post. We will also improve our understanding of children and young 
people’s needs, foster carers’ needs (to improve recruitment and retention of carers), 
and local sites that could be developed (including through adaptations) into more 
residential care. This includes sites for specialist accommodation for those with the 
most complex health, educational, and emotional and behavioural needs. We will also 
have a detailed understanding of the impact of keeping children in the District on local 
education placements and health care services and the investment and approach 
needed to manage this. This work will inform the next, longer-term Sufficiency 
Strategy (2020-25).

2. Background
Following the September-October 2016 Ofsted inspection, Ofsted recommended 
Kirklees ‘increase the availability of local placements to ensure that children and 
young people do not need to be placed at a distance from their communities’ 
(recommendation 20 - link). This is a challenge for local authorities nationally. As of 31 
March 2017, 40% of looked after children in England were placed out of their home 
area (link). This continues to be a challenge as the number of children in care 
nationally continues to rise (link). In the Improvement Plan, we committed to deliver 
this outcome through a Sufficiency Strategy and Action Plan. The Strategy was 
submitted to Improvement Board on the 10th May, to inform them of progress.

The Council has a statutory duty to take steps to provide sufficient accommodation 
within the District to meet the needs of our local children and young people, as far as 
reasonably practicable (Children Act 1989, Section 22G - link). This draft Strategy and 
Action Plan shows how the Council is meeting this statutory responsibility. It has been 
produced with the Government’s guidance in mind, ‘Securing Sufficient 
Accommodation for Looked after Children’ (2010) (link).

The draft Strategy and Action Plan have been produced in line with the Shared 
Outcomes set out in the Corporate Plan. The current draft aims to help give children 
the best start in life by delivering three outcomes:

1. Our children and young people are confident our decisions more clearly reflect their 
needs and views;
2. More children and young people can stay at home and more leave care early; and
3. More accommodation of the right kind for children and young people in need.

Page 8

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/kirklees/052_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_Additional_Tables_Text.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/22G
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securing-sufficient-accommodation-for-looked-after-children


3

The core indicator of its success will be that a smaller proportion of looked after 
children and young people are placed outside of the District. Other key indicators 
include more placement stability and a net gain in foster care households.

The draft has had significant contributions from teams across the Council, including 
the Children’s Rights Team, Corporate Parenting, Commissioning, and the Corporate 
Strategy and Policy Team. We are continuing and extending these discussions in 
recognition of the impact of placement decisions on outcomes and activities across 
the Council. Recognising the centrality of partnership work in our new ways of 
working, we have also shared the draft with health and education stakeholders, 
including the Head of Joint Commissioning from the local CCGs. True to our 
commitment to strengthening the voice of the child in our decisions, we have also 
discussed the approach with some of our children at the Children in Care Council and 
the Care Leavers Forum. Those we have engaged with have voiced support for the 
Strategy’s approach, whilst emphasising that specific placement targets require 
corresponding education and healthcare provision. We are looking into specific 
numbers and total financial implications over the next months.

We will continue to engage as we develop the draft Strategy and Action Plan further. 
This will help to ensure our efforts are coordinated. The Strategy and Action Plan are 
on the agenda for Corporate Parenting Board for discussion on 9th July.

Progress on delivering the outcomes in this Strategy will be monitored 6-monthly at 
Corporate Parenting Board. This will be against the indicators and performance 
measures and specific outputs in the finalised Action Plan. A key output is the next, 5-
year Sufficiency Strategy, which will run from 2020-25.

3. Implications for the Council

3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP)
Improved sufficiency will require improving our early intervention and 
prevention, including ongoing support for children and young people at risk of 
being taken into care. This will help children and young people safely stay at 
home rather than being taken into care, which should leave residential and 
family-setting placements (such as foster) for those that need them most 
(because they can’t safely stay at home).

3.2 Economic Resilience (ER)
We are looking at the possibility of more in-house residential provision for those 
who can’t safely stay at home. If found to be viable, this could protect the 
Council from price-rises when demand rises.

3.3 Improving Outcomes for Children 
Getting used to a new placement takes time and energy and so changing 
placements can be disruptive. It can also mean losing vital friends and support 
networks. Ongoing placement instability makes it more likely that a child or 
young person will have to move out-of-area if that child or young person has 
specific educational, health, or emotional and behavioural needs. Placement 
stability is supported by involving children and young people in decisions about 
their placements and care. A key part of the current draft Sufficiency Strategy 
and Action Plan is strengthening the voice of our children and young people.

It is better for our children and young people to live locally where they can 
retain friends, support networks, and their educational setting and where we 
can provide higher quality support. With more children and young people 

Page 9



4

supported to stay at home, there will be more local placements for those that 
need them most.

Family-setting placements such as foster care tend to produce better outcomes 
for children and young people than residential care. They aim to replicate, as 
close as possible, a loving and attentive family life. The draft Strategy aims to 
have a higher proportion of children and young people in family-setting 
placements such as foster placements. This should be better for our children 
and young people, as well as keeping local residential placements allocated to 
those of our children and young people for whom foster placements are not 
appropriate or have not been producing good outcomes.

3.4 Reducing demand on services
Through better early support and improved consideration of educational, 
health, and emotional and behavioural needs in placement decisions, this 
Strategy could increase demand on Early Help. It will also mean more demand 
for school places, including for specialist placements for those of our children 
and young people with complex needs, and local health services. However:
1. It will reduce financial demand on services through reduced expenditure on 

costly out-of-area residential placements; and
2. Supporting children and young people placed out of Kirklees, especially 

those placed more than 20 miles out of the District, requires additional 
resources to supporting those within Kirklees.

3.5 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources) 
The Strategy will help us meet our sufficiency duty (as outlined in Section 2).

4. Consultees and their opinions
There is no statutory requirement to consult and no formal consultation has taken 
place. However, we have contacted key internal and external stakeholders for 
comment. Feedback received so far is summarised below. We are continuing to 
consider education, health, and specialist accommodation needs in developing the 
Strategy, as Tom Brailsford has suggested. We have noted the other comments and 
they are informing the future development of the Strategy.

Tom Brailsford (Head of Joint Commissioning – Children), NHS Greater Huddersfield 
and NHS North Kirklees CCGs: Supports the outcomes and principles of the Strategy. 
The detailed commissioning plans that will sit under these must approach sufficiency 
in terms of education, health needs, and specialist accommodation needs. A number 
of Kirklees’ children need highly specialist placements and education settings. These 
are currently only found out of area and the quality of these placements is 
questionable and the cost high. Local specialist provision would keep these children in 
Kirklees, improve the quality of their care, and keep the costs lower.

Mandy Cameron (Head of Service, Education Safeguarding and Inclusion): Agrees 
with the above and suggests work through the High Needs Review and this Strategy 
should be aligned.

Sheila Lock (Independent Chair, Safeguarding Board): Approves of the Strategy, but 
would recommend further emphasis on community resources and the new local 
provider network (which will improve quality, skill exchange, and local relationships).

Diane Brookes (Commissioning Manager): Fully agrees that we need to develop local 
provision but we need to look at all options for local provision on a case-by-case basis 
(not focus exclusively on in-house provision), with clear costings. Reducing the 

Page 10



5

number of beds in residences might not be effective, according to the 2016 Narey 
report, and avoiding institutionalisation is more important. Training and staff culture in 
residential homes should be addressed.

Children in Care Council: Children told us they find smaller placements better and that 
they would like to be more involved in training foster carers and choosing placements. 
They emphasised the importance of treating every child on their own terms.

Care Leavers Forum: Young people told us the location of their placement is key to 
their success. They also said it would be good to be involved in foster carer training.

5. Next steps
- Continue to develop the draft in line with the comments above, those from Scrutiny, 

and those from Corporate Parenting Board (9th July);
- In collaboration with the Specialist Accommodation Board and education and health 

colleagues, develop a more detailed understanding of the numbers that could stay in 
or return to Kirklees and the specialist accommodation, education placements, and 
health service requirements for this; and

-  Present financial implications to Executive Team.

6. Officer recommendations and reasons
1. That members of Scrutiny Panel note the content of this report and the draft 
Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy and Action Plan (2018-19) (Appendix 1);
2. To ask Scrutiny to comment on the draft Strategy and Action Plan to contribute 
towards its further development (Appendix 1).

7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations
N/A

8. Contact officers
Steve Comb (Head of Corporate Parenting)
steve.comb@kirklees.gov.uk
01484 221000

Stephen Bonnell (Strategy & Policy Assistant)
stephen.bonnell@kirklees.gov.uk
01484 221000

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions
N/A

10. Service Director responsible  
Elaine McShane (Family Support and Child Protection)

Page 11

mailto:steve.comb@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bonnell@kirklees.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



[PICTURE OF CHILDREN]

DRAFT

Children and Young People’s
Interim Sufficiency Strategy 

2018-2019 

April 2018 V6.6
24/4/18

Page 13

http://nasauk.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/kirklees-council-logo-2s400x400.jpg


2

Contents
Introduction: the challenge and our approach ............................................................................3

Ofsted’s recommendations and the Improvement Plan..............................................................5

Other documents ..........................................................................................................................5

The statutory duty to secure sufficient accommodation.............................................................6

Our decisions more clearly reflect our children and young people’s needs and views ..............7

More children and young people can stay at home and more leave care early .........................8

More accommodation of the right kind for our children and young people in need .................9

Next steps....................................................................................................................................13

APPENDIX 1: 2018-19 Action Plan ..............................................................................................14

APPENDIX 2: Our Approach to Commissioning ..........................................................................15

APPENDIX 3: Looked After Children in Kirklees in November 2017 ..........................................16

Page 14



3

Introduction: the challenge and our approach
Our shared vision, developed with partners in the private, public, and voluntary sector, is for 
Kirklees to have both a strong sustainable economy and a great quality of life – leading to 
thriving communities, growing businesses, high prosperity and low inequality where people 
enjoy better health throughout their lives. We are working with our partners to lead the 
district in being progressive and responsible whilst ensuring that everyone benefits from our 
joint work. Our shared approach can be found in our Corporate Plan (link).

This Strategy focusses on meeting local demand for family-setting (especially foster) and 
residential care placements so that our children and young people do not need to move 
away. Moving into care is usually a difficult experience. It can bring with it a significant sense 
of loss. Older children may experience significant problems at school not just due to the 
earlier problems that led them into care, but also from other factors such as having to travel 
to maintain a stable school placement and losing friends and support networks, which are 
crucial for our children and young people’s wellbeing. Being placed out of area exacerbates 
these challenges and makes it harder for us as Corporate Parents to quickly and effectively 
respond to the child or young person’s needs.

Since 2005, the number of looked after children in Kirklees has increased from 312 to 656 
(November 2017). The local market has been unable to meet demand because of the speed 
and size of this demand shift, which has led to more of our children and young people being 
moved outside Kirklees. This is one of the major challenges in the District and the focus of 
this Strategy.

One of our shared priorities, developed with partners and published in the Corporate Plan, is 
to give children and young people the best start in life. This Strategy aims to help deliver a 
better start by placing our looked after children within the District and therefore minimising 
the impact of moving into care on our children and young people. It aims to do this in a 
sustainable way, with an emphasis on increasing the proportion of children placed in family 
settings such as foster care.

This Strategy sets out for the public, service-users, and other stakeholders how we will 
develop our services from now through 2019 to secure sufficient accommodation to meet 
present and expected need. Given the high demand and where we are now, this will not 
happen by the end of 2019, but by then we will have developed our understanding of local 
need and have reviewed our practices to ensure they are effective and efficient. This will put 
us in a position to set out a longer-term plan.

The Strategy approaches the challenge by aiming to deliver three outcomes:

1. Children and young people are confident our decisions more clearly reflect their 
needs and views (p. 7);

Page 15

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/corporate-plan-201718.aspx


4

2. More children and young people can stay at home and more leave care early (p. 8); 
and

3. More accommodation of the right kind for children and young people in need (pp. 9-
13).

Firstly, we will develop our understanding of need and listen better to the voice of the child.

Secondly, we will review and develop our support offer. With the right early support and 
when it is safe to do so, we can find a way for children and young people to stay with their 
families. This is not just about what is easier or more cost-efficient for the Council: it is usually 
better for a child or young person to avoid the disruption of moving into care. This also 
benefits the children most at need by ensuring there is enough accommodation within the 
District for a person that cannot stay safely at home.

In some cases, it’s not safe for a child or young person to stay at home, even with extensive 
support. So, thirdly, we will maintain our efforts to secure more accommodation within the 
District and will review our practices to ensure they are effective and sustainable. The 
additional accommodation will help our children and young people retain friends and support 
networks and make it easier for us and our partners to improve their wellbeing. We will 
review how we secure new accommodation and assess new or more sustainable models for 
doing so to ensure we can continue to secure more accommodation if required. Kirklees 
already has an above average proportion of children in residential care. This is expensive and 
it would be unsustainable for this proportion to rise. To further ensure the financial 
sustainability of our offer as numbers in care and numbers placed in the area increase, we 
will focus our efforts on recruiting and retaining more foster carers and family placements 
when appropriate. These are better for our children and young people and make our offer 
more sustainable.

The three appendices to this document provide more detail on this approach: specific actions 
in the action plan, an outline of our approach to commissioning as we move towards 
outcomes-based commissioning, and the latest figures on the demographic and need of 
children in care in Kirklees.

Page 16



5

Ofsted’s recommendations and the Improvement Plan
In June 2017, Kirklees entered into an Improvement Partnership with Leeds City Council. This 
Strategy forms part of Council’s efforts to deliver the outcomes stated in the Improvement 
Plan, which are, in turn, our response to Ofsted’s recommendations following their 
September-October 2016 inspection (link). 

Following the inspection, Ofsted recommended that Kirklees ‘increase the availability of local 
placements to ensure that children and young people do not need to be placed at a distance 
from their communities’ (recommendation 20) (link). In the Improvement Plan, we 
committed to deliver this outcome through this Sufficiency Strategy and its accompanying 
Action Plan. 

This Sufficiency Strategy also partly addresses recommendation 19: ‘review all arrangements 
when children are placed with parents to ensure that these are appropriate and that children 
are not unnecessarily made subject to a care order’.

Other documents
This Strategy’s scope is limited to managing and meeting accommodation need for our 
looked after children, but it is part of a wider strategic framework, aiming to improve the 
lives of all children and young people and their families living in Kirklees:

 Our shared vision, outcomes, and values come from our Corporate Plan (2017-18).
 This Sufficiency Strategy sets out ways of improving children’s wellbeing. With 

partners from across the health sector, we are aiming to deliver the health and 
wellbeing outcomes agreed in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2014-2020) 
(link). The Economic Strategy (2014-2020) (link) sets out priorities complimentary to 
those in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, recognising the role of inequality in 
the health and wellbeing of all Kirklees’ residents, and its implementation will support 
this Strategy.

 We are developing a Children and Young People’s Plan, setting out our overall 
approach to improving children and young people’s lives in Kirklees and we are 
looking at developing a distinct strategy regarding children subject to safeguarding 
activity.

 Future in Mind: Transformation Plan 2015-2020 (link) sets out how Kirklees is working 
together with the NHS to provide better outcomes for children and young people’s 
mental health and this strategy will help deliver its commitment to protect those at 
risk of serious mental health problems through its emphasis on early intervention 
services.

 Ensuring we have the right offer is particularly important for children and young 
people living with special educational needs or disabilities. This Strategy compliments 
the outcomes stated in the Joint Strategy for Children and Young People with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (link).

Page 17

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/kirklees/052_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/kirklees/052_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/corporate-plan-201718.aspx
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/health-strategy.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/health-strategy.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/involve/publisheddoc.aspx?ref=0tpbko6i&e=661
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/involve/publisheddoc.aspx?ref=0tpbko6i&e=661
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/working-with-children/pdf/future-in-mind/Kirklees-Future-In-Mind-Transformation-Plan-Refresh.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-strategy.pdf


6

The statutory duty to secure sufficient accommodation
The Strategy sets out our approach for 2018-19 on meeting the requirements of section 22G 
of the Children Act 1989 in line with the statutory guidance ‘Securing Sufficient 
Accommodation for Looked after Children’ (2010). 

Section 22G (link) applies to all children looked after under the Children Act. It requires local 
authorities to secure, as far as practicable, enough accommodation to meet the needs of any 
children whose circumstances are such that living within the local authority’s area would be 
consistent with their welfare. 

The UK Government guidance ‘Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked after Children’ 
sets out a check-list for what counts as meeting the sufficiency duty:

1. The right placement is available at the right time.
2. There is a range of local placements and supporting services that are sufficient to 

meet the needs of all Looked after Children or a plan to move towards that position.
3. There is consideration of the service requirements of children that are looked after, 

on the edge of care, at risk of custody, and/or leaving care. 
4. Working with local partner agencies and neighbouring authorities to ensure this need 

will be met and that young people with this need receive the support they need. 1

The guidance also sets out the building blocks of effective commissioning for children and 
young people in care: high quality assessments, care planning, and placement decisions.

This Strategy’s approach has been developed in line with that guidance.

The Corporate Parenting Board will review our progress against the Action Plan appended to 
the Strategy. Progress against our key indicators will be presented to Corporate Parenting 
Board every six months.

1 Partners have obligations under the Children Act 2004 section 10 in relation to improving the outcomes for 
children in the local area.

Page 18

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/22G


7

Children and young people are confident our decisions more clearly 
reflect their needs and views
We will continue to develop our intelligence, to better understand how much and what kind 
of accommodation and support is needed. We will also demonstrate that we listen and act on 
the voice of our children and young people in coordinating their care.

Research and reviews from Laming to Munro emphasise the importance of the voice of the 
child in ensuring children are effectively supported and protected. Children’s services need to 
build the right relationships and trust with our children and young people to enable them to 
voice their concerns, share their views and be involved in agreeing the support and plans that 
are right for their needs. Kirklees will have better services, better outcomes and better future 
if our children’s voices are at the heart of everything we do. In line with the Improvement 
Plan, this is becoming a shared value and central to the work of our services and partners.

In 2016 a survey was sent to 165 young people placed out of area to which 20 responses 
were received.  For this small quota of young people most were happy with their placements 
but the overarching issue was around contact with family and friends i.e. wanting to see 
them more.  Whilst placing young people out of area makes contact more difficult, the Local 
Authority has a duty to ensure that good quality, regular contact happens (unless restrictions 
apply) and this should be facilitated by giving whatever support is needed.  For any young 
person moving placement either within or out of area there are also the obvious issues of 
feeling nervous / frightened as they move to somewhere new and have to get to know new 
people and used to new surroundings.  Having to change school is a further disruption as 
they leave familiarity and their school friends behind.

We will strengthen arrangements for involving and empowering children across children’s 
services. All Care Plans and Pathway Plans will be outcome focused and include evidence of 
the voice of the child.

What our Looked after Children and Care Leavers told us:
 “Make sure you listen to children and young people to get their 

views on their placements”
 “Care Leavers should be in a comfortable placement so they can 

feel at home” 
 “Make sure that people in care feel important”
 “Not enough attention given to Care Plans and  Pathway Plans” 
 “Kids in care and care leavers don’t know what social workers 

expect of them”

Extracts from “Views of Children” by the Kirklees Children’s Rights Team, March 2017 

Page 19



8

More children and young people can stay at home and more leave 
care early
Early help delivers better outcomes for children and families and is less expensive than late 
intervention.

Problems at home become entrenched when left too long, which makes them more 
disruptive for the children and family and harder and more expensive to solve. It also raises 
the risk of a child being taken into care, which is disruptive for the child and expensive for the 
Council.

Early help means managing challenges when they are easier to solve, to prevent 
entrenchment. It also means targeted and evidence-based responses to entrenched 
problems to support a child or young person to stay at home when safe. This is an urgent 
issue, as without any intervention the number of looked after children is predicted to rise. 
Entrenched problems increase pressure on social services. Early help helps manage that 
pressure, which helps social workers make high-quality, cost-effective decisions.

Our early support approach is to deliver innovative edge of care services and collaborate with 
partners on our care and support packages.

Collaborative care and support packages, including edge of care
We have learnt from other local authorities, who have tried a number of different models for 
edge of care services with varying success and value for money. We will build on this 
knowledge when reviewing our edge of care services to ensure they are innovative and 
evidence-based.

We want a full range of care and support packages to support children and young people 
living with disabilities or health (including mental health) problems. Disabilities and health 
problems create challenges at home that make it more likely that a child or young person will 
be looked after, but the right support can help them and their families manage. It is more 
difficult and costly to complete health assessments on our children and young people once 
they are placed outside the District, making it harder to ensure we’re meeting all the needs 
of those with complex health problems, including mental health problems.

Our looked after children have often had a poor start in life and may need additional support 
to achieve their potential. We and our partner agencies will provide all our children with 
good quality wrap around care, tailored to their needs and provide excellent support to their 
carers.

Page 20



9

More accommodation of the right kind for our children and young 
people in need
Our broad approach: a mixed offer of mostly family settings complemented by good 
relationships with private providers that helps children return home when safe. 

We will increase the proportion of our children and young people in foster 
placements
Wherever it is in their best interests, children and young people will be placed in family 
settings with friends and family (Connected Persons) or foster placements rather than 
residential settings.

The local children’s residential market is not currently meeting local need either due to 
availability, quality or affordability. We have above average numbers of children in residential 
care. In November 2017, 11.2% of Kirklees’ looked-after-children, comparable local 
authorities have around 8.2%. Residential care placements are expensive and this high 
proportion in residential care affects the sustainability of our offer.

We will continue our mixed approach of Council-run and commissioned provision. Like most 
local authorities, we will try to reduce private-sector placements. Whilst the cost of Council-
run services remains stable, in times of high-demand private sector providers cost more and 
we are therefore forced to pay extra or find a provider out-of-area. Over-reliance on private-
sector placements can therefore lead to more out-of-area placements. The Specialist 
Accommodation project board will assess ways for the Council itself to provide more small 
children’s homes.

We have proportionately fewer foster placements than comparable local authorities: 68% of 
children are in foster care compared to 73% in others. The use of the Council’s own in-house 
foster carers for placements is also low at 34% of placements against 44% for our 
comparators. In April 2017 there were 169 Kirklees Council carers offering 221 placements 
this equates to 1.3 placements per carer, the national average is 1.7 placements per carer.

With this in mind, increasing local fostering and other family setting placements is our key 
measure to guaranteeing the sustainability of our local offer. We will try to lower the 
proportion of children placed in residential care by increasing the number placed in family 
settings such as foster care. Children in residential care aged 12 or below might especially 
benefit. These decisions will always be made with the best interest of the child in mind and in 
light of their views.

The key challenges to fostering in Kirklees are:

Page 21



10

 We heavily rely on Independent Agency Foster placements (IFAs). There are currently 
153 IFA placements and 75% of these placements are outside Kirklees.  

 23% of Kirklees foster carers are aged 56 and above. We need to make plans now for 
their potential retirement as well as other carers deregistering.

 Kirklees Councils’ recent foster carer recruitment campaigns have not been as 
successful as anticipated and have not kept pace with carers de registering or retiring.

 The introduction of Staying Put has reduced the local foster placement capacity as 
young adults are now staying in their foster placements after their 18th Birthday.

 There are especially few foster carers for older children, long term placements, sibling 
groups and young people with complex needs.

 Staying Put arrangements give children and young people the right to stay in their 
foster placement after they are 18, so long as both parties agree. Whilst this brings 
many benefits for the child or young person, this reduces the number of foster 
placements.

We know that majority of ‘therapeutic or specialist’ residential placements badged do not 
currently deliver the outcomes we expect or value for money. We will explore other options 
to meet needs.

For some children and young people, specialist placements within fostering or residential 
care can be the best way to give them the best start in life. A small number of children and 
young people living with disabilities or emotional and behavioural issues may have their 
needs best met in specialist provision. Our local offer will reflect this. Some of these young 
people will transfer to Adult’s Services on or close to their 18th birthday. We will support 
them in this transition.

We will monitor the Government response to the 36 recommendations in the Review into 
Foster Care in England by Sir Martin Narey and Mark Owers. We will consider the impact of 
the Government response on providing sufficient accommodation in developing the next, 5-
year Sufficiency Strategy (2020-2025).

We will support our children and young people exiting care early
When safe, young people will be enabled to return home or exit care early. To this end, we 
will try to support more children and young people into adoption and other permanence 
arrangements. We will work more closely with One Adoption West Yorkshire, who provide 
our adoption services. We will also support children and young people to exit care earlier 
through more Special Guardianship Order and Child Arrangement Order placements.

We will build our relationships with private sector providers of both fostering and residential 
services. We will meet regularly with private sector fostering and residential services to 
understand their capacity and challenges and to share relevant policies and procedures.

Page 22



11

We will have effective support for young people entering adulthood, including a range of 
appropriate semi-independent accommodation placements and high quality personal advisor 
support. This will assist them in exiting care early, if beneficial to their wellbeing. If we don’t 
have this semi-independent accommodation available, these young people might be placed 
out-of-area.

We will improve placement stability
Evidence shows that having multiple care placements reduces children’s opportunities to 
develop secure attachments. It may also worsen any existing behavioural and emotional 
difficulties. 

Placement stability is an essential part of securing sufficient accommodation within the 
District. Having to move placements raises the risk that a child or young person will be placed 
outside the District. Also, not having the right kind of accommodation makes it more likely 
that a child or young person will have to move their placements, so placement stability is a 
measure of how appropriate our range of accommodation is. We will measure the success of 
this approach by the number of permanence plans, e.g. long-term fostering and long-term 
residential.

Our fostering service has a placement support team with a psychotherapist, psychologist, and 
a senior mental health practitioner. They advise foster carers and directly support children 
and young people living with emotional and mental health problems. This work helps 
improve placement stability as well as retain foster carers. We will continue this offer.

We will consider education needs in making placement decisions
For all of our children and young people in our care, when we can’t get them into a school, 
they may have to be placed out-of-area to meet their educational needs. Finding a school 
place can be complicated for the small number of children and young people requiring 
specialist placements with on-site education, such as some of those living with disabilities, or 
those with complex emotional, behavioural, and social needs.

Kirklees Virtual School monitors the attendance and attainment of children and young people 
in Kirklees’ care and flags difficulties children and young people may have. We will involve the 
Virtual School in all placement moves from the earliest possible stage so educational 
requirements are considered. This well help to improve placement stability, preventing 
placements breaking down because of a lack of appropriate school place.

The Virtual School will liaise with SENACT to ensure that children with special education 
needs are identified on the Placement Referral Form prior to commencing the placement 

Page 23



12

search. SENACT will be involved at all stages and always before any education package is 
purchased from a residential care provider.

We will strengthen our relationships with both mainstream and specialist education 
providers and look at ways to provide more bespoke education provision locally to meet our 
children and young people’s educational needs.

Accommodating young people leaving custody
If a child or young person leaves custody following a criminal offence and they do not have a 
parent or guardian, cannot return home, or were previously in care, the local authority will 
be responsible for providing accommodation. We need the right kind of accommodation to 
support these people within the District. Without the specialist provision that some of them 
will require, we will have to place them out-of-area. We will develop the specialist provision 
required for these young people.

We will continue the good work of the dedicated Looked After Children team within the 
Young Offenders Team: since 2010/2011 we have seen a gradual year on year reduction in 
the percentage offending of LAC young people, from 12.8% (10/11) to 6% (15/16). 

We will also continue the good restorative justice work, delivered by schools, partners, and 
the Council through the Youth Offenders Team and others.

We will review our commissioning practices
A key means to achieving this outcome of this strategy is securing the placements and 
services needed to meet need when a child or young person’s wellbeing is better served in 
care. We need to ensure our placement offer is sustainable, so we will review and improve 
our arrangements for purchasing placements. These might include:

 Regional and/or sub-regional collaboration;
 framework contracts;
 block and/or spot purchasing; 
 partnering with others, including another council or councils, businesses, and/or 

charities and voluntary organisations.

We will review our current placements service, examining the efficiency and effectiveness of 
current arrangements. The service will manage all placement referrals and use a robust 
quality assurance and contract management model to ensure good quality matches and 
sustainable investments.

We will consider developing a resource panel to ensure there is senior management 
oversight of all placements.

Quality assurance is a priority. There will be robust quality assurance and oversight. 
For children’s homes, there are monthly Regulation 44 visits. There are also regular manager 

Page 24



13

reports. We are developing regular foster care business meetings, which will take place every 
6 weeks. We are also creating new practice standards for our fostering service and a quality 
assurance officer role within the Placements Team to drive up standards in private sector 
residential and fostering provision.

Next steps 
By late 2018 we know we will have better intelligence about our current and future cohort of 
young people and better understand their individual needs more accurately to support us in 
planning outcome based services for the following 5 years. 

We will then develop:

 A comprehensive assessment of the needs of Kirklees’ Looked After Children and their 
families.

 A 5-Year Sufficiency Plan 
 Commissioning Options Papers
 A Commissioning Plan
 A Market Position Statement, to tell the market what outcomes we want to achieve 

and an indication on the type and volume of services.

Our Action Plan details how we will prepare to deliver the above.

Page 25



14

APPENDIX 1: Action Plan

PLEASE NOTE: THE INDICATORS, BASELINES, AND 
TARGETS IN THIS ACTION PLAN ARE SUBJECT TO 
CHANGE. FEEDBACK WELCOME.

This Action Plan and services’ progress against it will be monitored by the Corporate 
Parenting Board. It is not a list of everything we will be doing, but a statement of the key 
performance measures by which the success of our Strategy will be evaluated. It is therefore 
an accountability document in line with the Council’s move towards Outcomes-Based 
Accountability. The progress against the performance measures will be monitored monthly 
and there will be six-monthly updates to the Corporate Parenting Board with commentary 
from those identified in the relevant column. Decisions about modifications to this Action 
Plan will be approved at Corporate Parenting Board. For example, as baselines become 
available, Corporate Parenting Board will need to approve measure targets and actions to 
achieve them.

Our key indicator is the proportion of looked after children placed outside Kirklees, which 
cuts across all three of our main outcomes:

Indicator
(How we measure if anyone was 
better off, how much we have 
done, and how well [quickly, 
efficiently, etc.] we have done it)

Baseline 
(date)

Target 
(date)

Who will produce 
the commentary 
for the 6-monthly 
updates?

What will be 
done? (Who will 
do it?)

Proportion of Looked After 
Children placed outside 
Kirklees

17% 
(Feb. 
2018)

TBC Head of 
Corporate 
Parenting
OR
Head of Service 
(Sufficiency) – To 
be filled

Fill the currently 
vacant post of 
Head of Service 
for Sufficiency 
(Service Director)

Monitoring 
progress against 
the indicators 
(Corporate 
Parenting Board)

The key indicators and accountability information for the three main outcomes of this 
Strategy are set out in the following pages.

Page 26



15

Children and young people are confident our decisions more clearly 
reflect their needs and views

Indicator
(How we measure if anyone was 
better off, how much we have done, 
and how well [quickly, efficiently, 
etc.] we have done it)

Baseline 
(date)

Target 
(date)

Who will 
produce the 
commentary 
for the 6-
monthly 
updates?

What will be 
done? (Who will 
do it?)

Proportion of complainants 
satisfied with outcome of 
complaint

N/A 
(new)

50% (Sep. 
2018)

Complaints 
Team

Number of children in care that 
have three or more placements 
moves on a year

??? 
(???)

Reduction
(???)

Service 
Manager 
Children in 
Care

Create a quality 
assurance 
officer role 
within the 
Placements 
Team

Collate good 
practice 
identified by 
children and 
young people 
(Children’s 
Rights Team)

Provide timely 
return 
interviews to 
every looked 
after child or 
young person 
returning from 
being missing

Produce a 
comprehensive 
assessment of 
the needs of our 
children and 
young people

Page 27



16

More children and young people can stay at home and more leave 
care early

Indicator
(How we measure if anyone was 
better off, how much we have 
done, and how well [quickly, 
efficiently, etc.] we have done it)

Baseline 
(date)

Target 
(date)

Who will 
produce the 
commentary 
for the 6-
monthly 
updates?

What will be 
done? (Who will 
do it?)

Proportion of partners who 
report improved satisfaction 
with partnership arrangements 
/ joint working

N/A 
(new)

Baseline 
by Dec. 
2018

Head of 
Corporate 
Parenting

Regular 
meetings with 
the CCG, Virtual 
School, and 
external 
placement 
providers on 
local health, 
education, and 
accommodation 
needs

Proportion of local partners 
reporting high levels of 
confidence with locality early 
help services 

??? ???
Increase

Head of 
Service for 
Assessment 
and 
Intervention

Regular 
meetings with 
the CCG, Virtual 
School, and 
external 
placement 
providers on 
early-help 
services

Proportion of care leavers that 
are in learning or work

51.5% 
(Q3 
2017/18)

70% 
(Sep. 
2019)

Head of 
Corporate 
Parenting

Involve all Care 
Leavers in 
agreeing up-to-
date, high quality 
Pathway Plans

Identify sites 
convertible into 
semi-
independent 
accommodation 
placements

Page 28



17

More accommodation of the right kind for children and young people 
in need

Indicator
(How we measure if 
anyone was better off, 
how much we have done, 
and how well [quickly, 
efficiently, etc.] we have 
done it)

Baseline 
(date)

Target 
(date)

Who will 
produce the 
commentary 
for the 6-
monthly 
updates?

What will be done? 
(Who will do it?)

Net change in foster 
care households

??? (???) Increase of 
24 by end 
2018/19.

Service 
Manager for 
Fostering

Survey existing and 
former foster carers 
on their support 
needs and develop 
new training and 
support models that 
better meet those 
needs

Meet with 
researchers from the 
Applied Childhood, 
Youth and Family 
Research, Centre for 
(CACYFR)  at 
Huddersfield 
University to discuss 
collaborative research 
into recruitment and 
retention of foster 
carers

Bi-monthly meetings 
with the local Foster 
Care Association to 
identify good practice 
and challenges in our 
support and 
recruitment/retentio
n of foster carers

Number of children in 
care that have three

??? (???) Reduction
(???)

Service 
Manager 

Ensure all our 
children and young 

Page 29

https://research.hud.ac.uk/institutes-centres/cacs/
https://research.hud.ac.uk/institutes-centres/cacs/
https://research.hud.ac.uk/institutes-centres/cacs/
https://research.hud.ac.uk/institutes-centres/cacs/


18

or more placements 
moves on a year

Children in 
Care

people have an 
outcome-focussed 
care plan (Fostering 
Team)

Create a quality 
assurance officer role 
within the 
Placements Team 
(Head of Corporate 
Parenting)

We will develop a 
resource panel to 
ensure there is senior 
management 
oversight of all 
placements

Consultation with 
young people on 
foster care 
recruitment and 
developing new 
residential homes

Percentage of 
placements within 
Kirklees that are 
provided by external 
partners

??? Decrease Head of 
Corporate 
Parenting
(Service 
Manager 
Sufficiency 
when 
appointed)

Identify the number 
of sites potentially 
convertible into 
children’s homes

Produce and publish a 
Identify 
new or more 
sustainable models 
for securing new 
accommodation 
assessed

Produce 
Commissioning 
Options for more in-

Page 30



19

house small children’s 
homes

Regular meetings 
with external 
providers to 
understand their 
future plans and how 
they impact on our 
provision

Percentage of children 
leaving care through 
adoption, Special 
Guardianship, and Child 
Arrangement Orders

??? Increase Placements

Numbers of children 
and young people 
moved outside of 
Kirklees that have 
complex needs 
(emotional, 
behavioural, 
educational, and 
health)

Decrease Virtual 
Headteacher 
(Virtual 
School)

Develop new services 
and resources for 
needs of complex 
children (education 
and health and 
wellbeing)

Involve the Virtual 
School in all 
placement decisions 
at the earliest 
possible stage

Page 31



20

APPENDIX 2: Our Approach to Commissioning 
Improving commissioning is the primary way to deliver better outcomes. In delivering the 
outcomes set out in this Strategy, we will follow the four-stage commissioning model set out 
below: 

Assess

Plan

Do 

Review

Effective commissioning requires agreeing outcomes and strategic vision with partners and 
utilising our resources and assets in a more collaborative way. It also involves being clear 
about needs through comprehensive and high quality intelligence. It also requires us to 
involve children at each stage of the commissioning process. We will also adopting a whole 
system approach to designing our services:

  (Wright et al, 2006)

The Council has an ambition to become an ‘Outcomes-Led Commissioning Council’. Part of 
this means we will ensure our planning starts from outcomes (e.g. looked after children living 
in the District) and judge our success on the following:

 How much we have done (e.g. 20 more homes secured);
 How well we have done it (e.g. how long it took to secure the homes, how expensive 

it was);
 If anyone was better off (e.g. 60% improvement in placement stability).

Once our approach is agreed, future Sufficiency Strategies will implement this new approach.

Page 32



21

APPENDIX 3: Looked After Children in Kirklees in November 2017

FIGURES TO BE UPDATED FOR FINAL DRAFT

A Snapshot of Our Looked after Children

Our key aggregated needs assessment is our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (link). Our 
Children’s Rights Team also work with children to get their views and our Children in Care 
Council and Youth Council also work on this. We also monitor the needs of all children 
engaged with our services as part of our day-to-day work.

The number of looked after children has grown from just over 300 in 2005 to a peak of 705 in 
December 2016 and has since dropped.

The local population of all young people aged 0 -17 years living in Kirklees is increasing, and 
based on the current rate of Looked after Children which is 65.6 per 10,000 aged 0-17; this 
would mean that if we do nothing the looked after children’s population could potentially 
increase to 708 by 2020 and to 745 by 2035.

Set out in this section is a snapshot of our current cohort of looked after children. Is CareFirst 
11/17 the latest?

Table 1

50
37

19 17

9

21 25
32 36

28
35

43 47
35

47
61

51
63

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
0

20

40

60

80

Ages of Looked after Children

Ages

Data from Carefirst 22.11.17

Table 1 tells us that 20% of looked after children in Kirklees are aged 4 and below, this is 
above the English average of 13%. Kirklees have 58% of looked after children aged 10 years 
and above this is lower than the English which is 62%.

Diagram 2

Page 33

https://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna


22

53%47%
Male
Femal
e

Overal LAC Gender Breakdown

Data from Carefirst 22.11.17

The overall gender split of looked after children is 47% female and 53% male. This tells us 
that we need around 40 more placements for boys and young men than for girls and young 
women.

For Kirklees young people in residential care the gender split shifts to 34% female and 66% 
male. This tells us we need one third of residential placements suitable for the specific needs 
of girls and two thirds for boys. 

Table 3

4
20

47
35

26
6

42
148

78
105

48

82
6

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

Family Assessment Centre
Placed for Adoption
Placed with Parents

16+ Supported Accommodation & Supported...
Residential Kirklees Council

Residential Kirklees Contracted 
Residential External

Fostering Kirklees Council - Short Term
Fostering Kirklees Council -Long Term

Fostering Agency -Short Term
Fostering Agency- Long Term

Fostering - Other Local Authority
Placed with Connected Person

Others

Looked after Children by Placement Type 

Number of Placements 

Data from CareFirst 22.11.17

Kirklees have more young people (11%) in residential care than our statistical neighbours and 
comparators (8%). 

Page 34



23

Kirklees have a total 58% of children in foster care. Kirklees have 34% of our total looked after 
children placed with our own foster carers compared to our comparators who have on 
43.8%. 

Number of Placements since becoming Looked After

Table 4

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 15 17 21
0

50

100

150

200

250

Number of Placements Since becoming Looked After

Number of Placements

N
um

be
r o

f C
hi

ld
re

n

Carefirst 22.11.17

The table above sets out the number of placements each young person has had since coming 
into care.

 70% have had 3 placements or less
 147 have had between 4 and 9 placements since coming into care
 19 children have had 10 or more placements since coming into care

  
Evidence shows that having multiple care placements reduces children’s opportunities to 
develop secure attachments. It may also worsen any existing behavioural and emotional 
difficulties. Therefore placement stability is something we will continue to strive to improve.

Age
In Kirklees 58% of looked after children are aged 10 or above. Children at this age are far 
more likely to be placed in out of area, specialist residential placements, which are costly. 
There is currently little or no choice in placement availability for this age group. Links to 
family and education placements frequently disrupted through lack of placement choice. 
Looking at new entrants into the care system we can see that 10-15 year olds make up 22% 
of new entrants.

Children and young people living with disabilities in Kirklees

Page 35



24

Around 2,500 Disabled Children and Young People in Kirklees

630 Disabled Children and Young People have an 
Education Health and Care Plan (making them eligible 

for Adult Social Care Services)

434 Disabled Children and Young 
People known to the Kirklees All 

Age Disability Service50 
Looked 

After 
Disabled 
Children 

and 
Young 
People

Page 36



1

ISSUES IDENTIFIED FOR INCLUSION IN THE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19

Issue Put forward by Approach and areas of focus Outcomes
FULL PANEL DISCUSSION ISSUES

OFFICER/PARTNER 
COMMENTS

1. Improvement Journey Steve Walker
2. Elective Home Education Steve Walker Ongoing ad-hoc panel

3. Special Educational 
Needs (To include School 
Transport)

Steve Walker Home to School Transport 
Policy (SEND)

Home to School Transport 
Policy (Mainstream)

Both to be considered by the 
panel.

4. CSE and Safeguarding Viv Kendrick?
5. KSCB Annual report to a panel 

meeting
6. Children and Young 

People's Plan
Mary White / 
Steve Walker

Draft plan to be brought in the 
next municipal year

7. Visit to Duty & Advice To be arranged
8. Front Door Policy Visit to HT forum to be arranged
9. Staff engagement visit To be arranged
10. Edge of Care

Chairs briefings – identification of pre-decision items. 

CHILDREN’S SCRUTINY PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Interests
	5 Draft Sufficiency Strategy
	2018-06-11 Item 5a Sufficiency strategy

	6 Children's Scrutiny Panel work programme

